IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHAVIS ZEIGLER and TRISTAN ELLIS,

Petitioners.

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

CASE NO. SC06-589

1st DCA Case Nos. 1D05-314

(Zeigler) and 1D05-315

(Ellis)

Respondent.

____/

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners Chavis Zeigler and Tristan Ellis were the appellants in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendants in the trial court. They will be referred to in this brief as petitioners, or by their proper names.

Respondent, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court. The state will be referred to herein as the state or as respondent.

This case involved two separate and complete appellate records. Those cases were consolidated by the district court, and one opinion was issued for both petitioners. The appellate records in both cases are identical in all material respects, but have different page numbers.

In this Court, references to the record will be the record in Chavis Zeiglers case. That record consists of four volumes. The supplemental record will be referred to as volume IV; all others will be referred to by the number assigned by the clerk of the circuit court. There is also a videotape of the entire traffic stop that was taken from Deputy Brownfields car.

References to the record on appeal will be made by use of the symbol AV, @ followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers.

All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners were charged by information with trafficking in cocaine and misdemeanor possession of marijuana (V1 9-10).

Petitioners moved to suppress the contraband seized from their automobile by Deputy Brownfield (V1 27-28). Each petitioners adopted the other=s arguments in their motion to suppress (V2-109).

Petitioners argued that the reason for their traffic stop dissipated shortly after the stop began and that their continued detention was without legal authority.

The state argued that Deputy Brownfield made contact with the petitioners after he discovered that they in fact had a valid, and properly posted, temporary tag in their rear window Ato tell them the purpose of the stop, that he could not see the tage (V2-101).

The trial judge denied the motion (V1 56-57). That court found that the temporary tag did not meet the requirements of Section 320.131(4), Florida Statutes, which requires a temporary tag to be conspicuously displayed in the rear license plate bracket or attached to the inside of the rear window in an upright position so as to be clearly visible from the rear of the vehicle.

Thereafter, both petitioners entered pleas of nolo contendere to the charges in return for seven year terms of imprisonment. They also reserved their right to appeal the denial of their motion to suppress (V3-132).

Thereafter, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed their convictions and sentences. Zeigler v. State, 922 So. 2d 384 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006). In so doing, the district court found that A temporary tag was properly displayed, but that Deputy Brownfield was within his rights to continue petitioners= detention and ask for identification on authority of this Courts decision in State v. Diaz, 850 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 2003). Zeigler v. State, supra. The district court went on to opine that even if Diaz did not authorize the petitioners= continued detention, the contraband in their vehicle would have been inevitably discovered. Id.

Petitioners petitioned this Court to review the decision in Zeigler v. State, supra, as asserted that it was in direct and express conflict with this Courts decision in State v.

Diaz, supra. Petitioners also asserted that the inevitable discovery ruling was in express and direct conflict with this Courts decisions in Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 2005, and Moody v. State, 842 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 2003).

On August 7, 2006, This Court accepted jurisdiction and directed the instant brief be filed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The petitioners were charged by information with trafficking in cocaine and misdemeanor possession of marijuana (V1 9-10).

The contraband was discovered in the car petitioners were traveling in after Deputy Brownfield stopped that vehicle because he did not see their lawfully posted temporary tag in the rear window.

Before trial, they moved to suppress the contraband (V1 27-28), and argued that they were illegally detained after Deputy Brownfield determined that they had a valid temporary tag on their car. Thus, they argued, all evidence obtained during the continued detention must be suppressed as the fruit of the poisonous tree.

At an evidentiary hearing on the motion to suppress, the parties stipulated that depositions of Deputies Brownfield and Jackson would be admissible as evidence as would the videotape of his stopping the petitioners (V2-91). Thereafter, Deputy Brownfield authenticated a videotape of his stopping petitioners vehicle that was taken from his car (V2-91).

In his deposition, Deputy Brownfield testified that he was patrolling Interstate 75, doing drug interdiction when the petitioners passed him. Brownfield Acouldn=t see a tag on the

vehicle, at which time [he] pulled behind the vehicle in order to try to find a tag on it@ (V1-34). Because it was a dark stretch of roadway, according to Brownfield (V1-34), he followed the car Aa little bit trying to find a tag@ (V1-34).

Brownfield activated his emergency lights and stopped the vehicle once he Agot to a rest area, or lighted area@ (V1-35).

He testified, A[T]he first time when I first seen a tag I was passing by the vehicle, near the passenger side, walking up to the car@ (V1 35-36).

The videotape shows Deputy Brownfield walk to the passenger side of the vehicle, knock on the window with his flashlight and direct the occupants to produce their identification cards. The passenger is seen rolling down his window in response to the officers directive.

He continued, And as I stuck my head through the window that—s when I detected the odor of marijuana; went ahead and asked for ID and all that@(V1-36). The videotape, however, shows Brownfield immediately demanding identification and the passenger window being lowered in compliance with his demand.

The petitioners were removed from their vehicle and held at gunpoint (V1-41) while deputies searched the vehicle. The search was conducted after Mr. Ellis purportedly gave consent (V1-40). Neither party argued that the search was consensual.

The search of the vehicle revealed approximately 50 grams of crack cocaine and a misdemeanor amount of marijuana (V1 42-43).

The state conceded that, AThe first time you see the tag is once [Brownfield] pulls over, he pulls in behind him and his lights hit squarely on the back of that window, then you can see the tag@ (V2 100-101). Although the tag is admittedly in plain view when Deputy Brownfield stopped behind the petitioners= car, Brownfield Adoesn=t notice the tag until [he] gets out and [is] walking up to make contact with the driver and occupant@ (V2 101-102). Even though the reason for the stop had ceased to exist, the state argued that Brownfield had Ato make some contact with them to let them know I didn=t see your tag, make sure it is on there correctly and that type of thing and let them go@ (V2-102). Once he tapped on the window with his flashlight and demanded that the occupants identify themselves, Brownfield smelled burned marijuana which justified their continued detention, according to the prosecutor.

Appellant argued that Brownfield made no genuine attempt to locate the temporary tag on petitioners= vehicle and pointed out that once he shined his spotlight on the rear of the

vehicle, the temporary tag was clearly visible and in the place designated by statute for it to be (V1-105).

Petitioner continued:

A[Brownfield] doesn=t begin the stop by telling them why he stopped them, he begins by asking them for identification and license and registration and things like that.

He spends about 90 seconds at the window before he ever explains to them why he has stopped the vehicle as he is required. That—s approximately two minutes after he stops the vehicle that he explains to them the purpose for the stop. It is during that time, that illegal period of detention, that Officer Brownfield testified at deposition that he observed the odor or cannabis from the vehicle... the only reason he was put in the position to observe the odor of cannabis in the vehicle was because that illegal period of detention prior to him informing them for the reason for the stop.

 $(V2\ 106-107)$.

Petitioners also pointed out that the videotape proved the roadway immediately before the area in which the stop was made was well illuminated@ (V2-107). Petitioners concluded:

A[O]nce the officer determines that there is a tag, the only reason he can make contact with the vehicle is to explain the reason for the stop. There [are] two minutes in there where Deputy Brownfield is making contact with the vehicle and doing exactly the things in Diaz that the Court found unacceptable, asking for identification, asking for people=s names and things of that nature. Those are the

exact facts in $\underline{\text{Diaz}}$ and that=s the two minutes that we=re talking about.@ (V2-108).

Defense counsel adopted each other=s arguments for the purpose of the motion to suppress (V2-109).

The state conceded that the tag was visible once Deputy Brownfield Ais pulled over and puts the spotlight on there, referring to petitioners= rear window, but added that Brownfield Adidn=t even notice it until he was walking by the vehicle (V2-111).

The trial court denied the petitioners= motion to suppress (V1 56-57), and held that the tag was not Aconspicuously displayed... as to be clearly visible from the rear of the vehicle, so that Deputy Brownfield had probable cause to stop the car. The trial judge went on to hold that it was reasonable for Brownfield to Awalk up to the car and make an explanation as to why he stopped the car. When the deputy smelled burned marijuana, he had probable cause to arrest the petitioners and search their vehicle.

Thereafter, both petitioners entered no contest pleas (V3-120, 124), and reserved their right to appeal the denial of their motions to suppress (V3-122, 124).

The court sentenced both men to seven years in prison.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>First issue</u>: The trial court erred by denying petitioners= motion to suppress, and the district court erred by affirming the order denying petitioners= motion to suppress.

Petitioners were stopped because Deputy Brownfield did not see their properly displayed temporary tag until after the cars pulled to the side of the interstate.

After determining that petitioners had a valid temporary tag, Brownfield approached the passenger window, tapped on it with his flashlight and, AGot some ID on you, man?@ See, videotape of traffic stop.

In response to the officers demand for identification, the passenger rolled down his window to explain that he had none. As soon as the window was lowered, Brownfield put his head inside the vehicle where he detected the odor of burned cannabis. Based on that odor, the petitioners= were removed from the vehicle which was searched and the contraband at issue was discovered.

State v. Diaz, infra, is directly on point. There, a deputy could not read the expiration date of a temporary tag so he stopped the vehicle. Before he made personal contact with the driver, he determined that the temporary tag was valid. Nevertheless, he made contact with the driver to check

his license. The driver was then arrested for felony driving with a suspended license.

This Court held that once the reason for the traffic stop dissipated, the deputy had no lawful authority to continue his detention of the motorist and demand identification. This Court held that the officer could only make contact with the drive to explain why he stopped the car, and that Anything more than an explanation of the stop was a violation of Mr. Diaz=s Fourth Amendment rights.@ State v. Diaz, infra.

Based on the authority of <u>State v. Diaz</u>, <u>infra</u>, both of the lower courts erred by not granting the petitioners the relief to which they were constitutionally entitled.

Second issue: The district court erred by applying the inevitable discovery doctrine to the instant case because (1) there was no on-going investigation into the petitioners= drug trafficking at the time the constitutional violation occurred, Moody v. State, infra, and (2) because the conclusion that Deputy Brownfield would have inevitably smelled burned cannabis required one to assume petitioners would have lowered their car window absent being required to do so. Jeffries v.State, infra.

In $\underline{\text{Moody v. State}}$, $\underline{\text{infra}}$, this Court ruled that for the inevitable discovery doctrine to apply Athe State must show

>that at the time of the constitutional violation an investigation was already under way. There was no such investigation under way in the instant case.

In <u>Jeffries v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, this Court held that **A**mere assumptions@ are not enough to meet the reasonable probability standard for application of the inevitable discovery doctrine to illegally seized evidence.

Here, Deputy Brownfield positioned himself at the passenger window and demanded identification. The petitioners obviously heard Brownfields demand because they responded to it by winding down their car window and telling him they had none. Brownfield then Astuck [his] head through the window [and] thats when [he] smelled the odor of marijuana@ (V1-36). Had Brownfield simply explained why he erroneously stopped the petitioners= vehicle, there is no reason to believe the car window would have been lowered and he would have been able to stick his head inside the car and smell the cannabis. Thus, to conclude Brownfield would have inevitably discovered the odor or marijuana, one must assume petitioners would have lowered their car window for no apparent reason. Such an assumption violates this Courts holding in Jeffries v. State, infra.

Accordingly, the inevitable discovery doctrine was inapplicable to the instant case.

ARGUMENT

FIRST ISSUE PRESENTED

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT=S ORDER DENYING PETITIONERS= MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHEN THIS COURT=S DECISION IN STATE V. DIAZ, 850 SO.2D 435 (FLA. 2003) REQUIRED REVERSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT=S ORDER.

Standard of Review

In <u>Riggs v. State</u>, 918 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 2005), this Court wrote, Awhen reviewing rulings on motions to suppress, we accord a presumption of correctness... to the trial courts determination of historical facts, but [we] independently review mixed questions of law and fact that ultimately determine constitutional issues.=

The Merits

This case raises the question of whether it is legally permissible to continue to detain a motorist to check his identification when the reason for a traffic stop has ceased to exist.

The trial judge found that petitioners= car tag was not displayed in accordance with Section 320.131(4), Florida Statutes because Athe temporary tag on the vehicle was not conspicuously displayed... as to be clearly visible from the rear of the vehicle=@ (V1-56).

The District Court of Appeal, presumably after viewing the videotape of the stop filmed from Deputy Brownfield=s car, concluded Athat a temporary tag was properly displayed.@

Zeigler v. State, 922 So. 2d 384 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006).

Petitioners contend that the district court=s factual determination is correct and is supported by the videotape of the stop as well as Deputy Brownfield=s testimony that he saw the tag when he walked up behind the car (V1 35-36).

Section 320.131(4), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part:

(4) Temporary tags shall be conspicuously displayed in the rear license plate bracket or attached to the inside of the rear window in an upright position so as to be clearly visible from the rear of the vehicle.

In this case, petitioners= state issued temporary tag was clearly visible as it was attached to the inside of the rear window in an upright position for all the world to see. The temporary tag is visible throughout the videotape including before the vehicles actually came to a stop on the side of the interstate.

Nevertheless, Deputy Brownfield testified that he could not see the state issued temporary tag until he pulled petitioners= car over and approached it on foot (V1 35-36).

Thus, by the time Brownfield actually made contact with the

petitioners, he was aware that they had a valid temporary tag on their car, and had no valid reason to continue to detain them. State v. Diaz, supra.

Despite having determined that petitioners had a properly displayed, valid temporary tag, Brownfield knocked on the vehicles closed window, and demanded that both petitioners provide him with identification. See videotape of traffic stop.

When the passenger opened the car window to hand out his identification, Brownfield put his head inside the car and detected the smell of burned marijuana. He then ordered both petitioners out of their car.

Petitioners contend that Brownfields continued detention of them after the reason for the traffic stop ceased to exist violated their right to be free from unreasonable governmental seizure, and that the subsequent search of their car was the fruit of the original illegal detention, and thus should have been excluded from evidence at trial. U.S.C.A. amend. 4; Art. 1, s. 12, Const. of Fla; State v. Diaz, supra.

An officer=s stop of an automobile constitutes a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment to the united States Constitution. <u>See</u>, <u>Delaware v. Prouse</u>, 440 U.S. 648, 99 S.Ct. 1391, 59 L.Ed.2d 660 (1979).

Once a police officer has satisfied the purpose for which he has initially stopped and detained a motorist, absent a reasonable, articulable suspicion of illegal activity, the officer no longer has any reasonable ground or legal basis for continuing the detention of the motorist. See, eg., Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983).

In <u>State v Diaz</u>, <u>supra</u>, a Hillsborough County Deputy observed a vehicle driven by Diaz pass by with a temporary tag on the top of the rear window. Because he could not read the tag, the deputy initiated a traffic stop. At the suppression hearing, the deputy testified that as he approached the car he could clearly read the tag including the expiration date and found nothing improper. He walked up to the drivers side of the car and obtained information from Diaz, the driver, which ultimately led to the charge against Diaz of felony driving with a suspended license.

This Court ultimately held that the officer had no justification for continuing the restraint of Diaz and obtaining information from him after it was clearly determined that no question remained concerning a violation of law, or the validity of the cars temporary license plate.

This Court characterized the reason for the stop as being Apremised upon the very slimmest of rationales,@ but nevertheless concluded Athe initial stop by the deputy sheriff was legitimate, albeit based upon a barely justifiable purpose.@ Id, at 437.

The Court also found Athat before the personal encounter between Mr. Diaz and the deputy sheriff occurred, the initial alleged purpose for the stop had been satisfied and removed.

Id. Citing Delaware v. Prouse, supra, the Court noted that Astopping an automobile and detaining the driver in order to check his drivers license and registration of the automobile are unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. Following the Prouse decision, the Court further held that Aunder the Fourth Amendment, a citizen may not be detained even momentarily without reasonable, objective grounds for doing so. State v. Diaz, supra.

This Court concluded that Athe continued detention of Mr.

Diaz after full knowledge had been acquired that totally removed any articulated question constituted an infringement upon his Fourth Amendment rights.@ This Court wrote:

AUpon approaching the vehicle and prior to personal contact, the deputy was able to read the tag, which was in a proper location, and clearly determined it to be valid. Therefore, under Royer, when the officer clearly determined the validity of the tag, the purpose for the stop was satisfied, and the continued detention of Mr. Diaz was improper. The investigative procedures and personal examination,

requiring the production of further information, was beyond that which was necessary or reasonable to satisfy the stated purpose of the stop. Before the personal encounter ever occurred the officer had totally and completely satisfied the purpose for the stop.@

State v. Diaz, supra, at 4439.

The Court reasoned:

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