CHAVIS ZIEGLER AND TRISTAN ELLIS,

Petitioners,

Case No. SC06-589

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

DANIEL A. DAVID ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0650412

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
ISSUE I
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT XXXXX BY XXXX? (Restated) 5
CONCLUSION
SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 25
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 26

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

# CASES

PAGE(S)

FLORIDA STATUTES

OTHER

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioners, Chavis Ziegler and Tristan Ellis, the Appellants in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

The record on appeal consists of four volumes, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal. "IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts as being generally supported by the record subject to the following additions:

The trial court denied the suppression motions by written order as follows:

#### ORDER ON DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS TO SUPPRESS

At hearing January 13, 2005, the Court received the following in evidence: depositions of Deputy Brownfield and Deputy Jackson (stipulated in by all three attorneys: A.S.A. Hingson, Siegmeister, Baker); the video tape of the stop which led to the recovery of the items sought to be suppressed; and the live testimony of Deputy Brownfield. Additionally, the Court heard argument of counsel and received several cited cases for review.

Based upon the evidence before me, the Court finds as follows:

1) At the time of the stop, the officers had probable cause to believe the temporary tag on the vehicle as not "conspicuously displayed ... as to be clearly visible from the rear of the vehicle." [Florida Statute 320.131(4)].

2) The fact that when a very high-intensity lawenforcement spotlight pointed at the tag made it visible, still does not meet the statutory requirements.

3) The high-intensity spotlighting of the tag would have been dangerous if done before the vehicle was out of the usual traveling lanes. The temporary tag was not "clearly visible" with normal headlights at normal distances.

4) Once the stop was started (blue lights) based on the 320.131(4) violation, and the car pulled over, it was reasonable to walk up to the car and make an explanation - this put the officer in a position to better see the tag, but clearly does not meet 320.131(4) criteria.

5) When the officer went to the stopped/pulledover vehicle, that is when he smelled the burnt cannabis/marijuana smell. Whether he was there for a few seconds making an explanation, or longer is not significant - the odor had been detected - and probable cause was existing.

6) Additionally, consent was obtained for the search. However, this was after the stop and

contact - which if invalid/unconstitutional would invalidate the consent.

The Motions to Suppress are <u>DENIED</u>. DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Lake City, Columbia County, Florida, this <u>13<sup>th</sup></u> day of <u>Jan.</u>, 2005.

> /s/ Paul S. Bryan PAUL S. BRYAN Circuit Judge

(I:51-52)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**Issue One.** The First District below properly found <u>State v.</u> <u>Diaz</u>, 850 So.2d 435 (Fla. 2003) distinguishable on the facts of this case. The non-visible temporary tag stop was valid under <u>Diaz</u>. The deputy had every right to be where he was under <u>Diaz</u> when he smelled the odor of burned marijuana. Thus, even if he had been in the process of explaining and releasing under <u>Diaz</u> rather than asking for identification, he would have been presented with this independent probable cause. That probable cause permitted search of the passenger compartment and discovery of the narcotics in this case.

Issue Two. The First District below properly held the contraband in Petitioners' car would have been inevitably discovered. Under totality of the circumstances approach, there а was an investigation underfoot. Alternatively, even if inevitable discovery is found wanting, there is independent source. The deputy was lawfully at the passenger side window under Diaz. The impropriety occurred in what he was saying at this lawful vantage point - asking for identification rather than explaining and releasing. At that lawful vantage point he would have been presented with probable cause via the burnt marijuana smell even if the Diaz post stop explanation element had been literally

complied with. Lastly, Petitioners' formulation that the deputy could only communicate with the car occupants through a rolled up window is an untenable position. Asking a stopped motorist to roll down a window to facilitate communication is a *de minimis* action that would hardly be intimidating or intrusive to a reasonable motorist.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING SUPPRESSION IN THIS CASE? (Restated)

#### Standard of Review

Connor v. State, 803 So.2d 598, 608 (Fla. 2001):

[A]ppellate courts should ... accord a presumption of correctness to the trial court's rulings on motions to suppress with regard to the trial court's determination of historical facts, but appellate courts must independently review mixed questions of law and fact that ultimately determine constitutional issues arising in the context of the Fourth and Fifth Amendment and, by extension, article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution.

Moreover, "The ruling of the trial court on a motion to suppress comes to us clothed with a presumption of correctness and we must interpret the evidence and reasonable inference and deductions in a manner most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling." <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 4, 9 (Fla. 1992), citing <u>Owen v. State</u>, 560 So. 2d 207, 211 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 112 L. Ed. 2d 118, 111 S. Ct. 152 (1990).

Under Art. 1, § 12, Fla. Const. (1968), Florida courts must decide suppression issues "in conformity with the 4th Amendment to the United States Constitution, as interpreted by the United

States Supreme Court." Florida courts are mandated under this provision to follow United States Supreme Court rulings on the subject matter, <u>Bernie v. State</u>, 524 So.2d 988 (Fla. 1988), and Florida's constitutional privacy provision does not alter this obligation. <u>State v. Hume</u>, 512 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1987). <u>Bernie</u> states, 524 So.2d at 990-991, that under the conformity clause, Florida courts are "bound to follow the interpretations of the United States Supreme Court with relation to the fourth amendment and provide no greater protection than those interpretations."

#### Burden of Persuasion

In a direct appeal or collateral proceeding, the party challenging the judgement or order of the trial court has the burden of demonstrating that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court. A conviction or sentence may not be reversed absent an express finding that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court. § 924.051(7), Fla. Stat. (2001), provides:

> In a direct appeal ... the party challenging the judgment or order of the trial court has the burden of demonstrating that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court. A conviction or sentence may not be reversed absent an express finding that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court.

Accord, <u>Abbott v. State</u>, 334 So. 2d 642, 646-647 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert. den., 431 U.S. 968, 97 S. Ct. 2926, 53 L.Ed.2d 1064 (1977):

The burden of establishing error is always on the appellant. The verdict or judgment of guilt having arrived in this court clothed with a presumption of correctness, all inferences to be drawn from the evidence are to be in favor of the verdict or judgment of guilt. <u>Crum v. State</u>, Fla. App. 1965, 172 So. 2d 24, 25. As a general proposition, it is the burden of appellant to make error appear in the record. <u>Bryant v. State</u>, Fla. App. 1967, 204 So. 2d 9.

A trial court's ruling is presumed correct. <u>Applegate v.</u> <u>Barnett</u>, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979). The trial court's decision, not its reasoning, is reviewed on appeal and will be affirmed even when based on erroneous reasoning. <u>Caso v. State</u>, 524 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988). A trial court may be right for the wrong reason. <u>Grant v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 259, 260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Because the trial court's decision is presumed correct, "the appellee can present any argument supported by the record even if not expressly asserted in the lower court." <u>Dade County</u> <u>School Bd. v. Radio Station WQBA</u>, 731 So. 2d 638, 645 (Fla. 1999).

#### Merits

Respondent recognizes the holding of this Court in <u>State v.</u> <u>Diaz</u>, 850 So.2d 435 (Fla. 2003). Respondent here argues for neither reversal nor modification of <u>Diaz</u>. Respondent recognizes that under <u>Diaz</u>, once a vehicle is stopped for a non-visible temporary tag and upon walking up to that vehicle the officer can see the tag is good, then

> the sheriff's deputy could lawfully make personal contact ... only to explain ... the reason for the initial stop. ... anything more than an explanation of the stop was a violation of Mr. Diaz's Fourth Amendment rights. Id. at 440

Succinctly, Respondent argues, as was found by the First District below, <u>Diaz</u> is not applicable to the facts of this case and hence does not control the outcome. In sum, the stop for a non-visible tag was permissible under <u>Diaz</u>. Once the visibility of the tag was ascertained, then under <u>Diaz</u> all the deputy could do was "make personal contact ... only to explain ... the reason for the initial stop." And it is here, and precisely here, during this permitted "personal contact ... to explain ... the reason for the initial stop" that Diaz becomes non-applicable.

That is because during that lawful personal contact to explain the reason for the stop, the deputy smelled burnt marijuana per the factual findings of the circuit court. Once

the burnt marijuana odor was detected, the law applicable to events changed.

Because of the burnt marijuana odor, it was no longer under Diaz a situation where "after the officer is fully satisfied that the motorist has not committed a violation of the laws of State of Florida," id. at 440, the officer's only the permissible role is to make personal contact, explain the reason for the stop, and send that motorist who has "not committed a violation of the laws of the State of Florida" back on his journey. In distinction here, once the burnt marijuana smell was detected, the deputy had a discrete, ascertainable, viable fact upon which to believe the laws of the state of Florida were, at that very moment, before his very eyes, being violated. Ascertainment of this violation of Florida Statutes occurred at a time and a place where the deputy had every right to be: on a public roadway, at the window of the stopped car, where he was supposed to, under Diaz, make personal contact, explain the reason for the stop, and send the car on its way.

Even if <u>Diaz</u> had been inarguably and exactly followed by the Deputy on the side of the Interstate in this case, the following would have occurred: the Deputy stops the car for a non-visible temporary tag. On walking up to the stopped car he sees the tag. He walks to the passenger side window, furthest

from passing traffic<sup>1</sup>. To make personal contact, he taps on the window. He says, in effect, "I at first couldn't see your temporary tag, but I now can and it is good. You're free to go on your way." During that explanation period he can smell the burnt marijuana from the stopped car while he is doing exactly what Diaz commands.

Once the burnt marijuana aroma is detected, the deputy has a valid basis to detain and investigate further. "As the odor of previously burnt marijuana certainly warranted a belief that an offense had been committed, this unquestionably provided the police officers on the scene probable cause to search the passenger compartment of the respondent's vehicle." <u>State v.</u> <u>Betz</u>, 815 So. 2d 627, 633 (Fla. 2002)<sup>2</sup>.

The stop for a non-readable temporary tag is valid. <u>Diaz</u>. Once a valid stop is effected, the officer or officers could order both the driver, <u>Pennsylvania v. Mimms</u>, 434 U.S. 106, 98

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Working from the shoulder of the road furthest away from passing highway traffic is a legitimate police technique. "The hazard of accidental injury from passing traffic to an officer standing on the driver's side of the vehicle may also be appreciable in some situations. Rather than conversing while standing exposed to moving traffic, the officer prudently may prefer to ask the driver of the vehicle to step out of the car and off onto the shoulder of the road where the inquiry may be pursued with greater safety to both." <u>Pennsylvania v. Mimms</u>, 434 U.S. 106, 110-111 (U.S. 1977). Hence the officer-occupant contact here through the passenger as opposed to the driver side window.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 2}$  Both the cannabis and the cocaine were found in the passenger compartment. (I:4).

S. Ct. 330, 54 L. Ed. 2d 331 (1977) and the passenger, <u>Maryland</u> <u>v. Wilson</u>, 519 U.S. 408, 117 S. Ct. 882, 137 L. Ed. 2d 41 (1997) out of the car with no specific or articulable reason to do so, just on the basis of officer safety. If such police orders to drivers and occupants are sustainable under the Fourth Amendment when there is no specific or articulable reason to do so, there can be no plausible argument against them when the officer has a specific articulable reason to believe a law violation is underway through the detection of the burnt marijuana smell from the car.

A stop based on a non-visible or non-readable temporary tag is permissible. <u>Diaz</u>. The officer had probable cause through the smell of burned marijuana from the car to believe a violation of Florida statutes was underway. <u>Betz</u>. He could order out both the driver, <u>Mims</u>, and the passenger, <u>Wilson</u>. He developed this probable cause in a place and manner where he had every right to be, making personal contact with the occupants of the stopped car. Diaz.

It is thus seen that the officer's request during the permissible encounter under <u>Diaz</u> for identification rather than telling the car occupants why they were stopped and that they were free to go is immaterial. Whether explaining under this Diaz encounter that they were free to go or requesting I.D., it

is seen that in either circumstance the officer would have smelled the marijuana. Once the probable cause presented itself during the <u>Diaz</u> contact after the stop, the officer could lawfully take the actions he did.

Hence, the trial court properly denied suppression on this record and the First District properly found <u>Diaz</u> noncontrolling. The decision of the First District should thus be upheld here.

#### ISSUE II

# WHETHER THE FIRST DISTRICT ERRED BY HOLDING THAT THE CONTRABAND IN THE PETITIONERS' VEHICLE WOULD HAVE BEEN INEVITABLY DISCOVERED (Restated)

## Standard of Review

Respondent has been unable to ascertain a case which precisely states the standard of review for the inevitable discovery doctrine. Respondent asserts, based on <u>Ornelas v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 517 U.S. 690, 116 S. Ct. 1657, 134 L. Ed. 2d 911 (1996) and <u>Nix v. Williams</u>, 467 U.S. 431, 81 L. Ed. 2d 377, 104 S. Ct. 2501 (1984) that it is a mixed question of law and fact, with factual findings presumptively correct and the legal issue subject to *de novo* review.

# Merits

Petitioners fault the First District for finding that the contraband in Petitioners' vehicle would have been inevitably discovered. The First District wrote, in pertinent part, <u>Zeigler</u> v. State, 922 So. 2d 384, 385 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2006):

> Although Officer Brownfield impermissibly asked for Appellants' identification, the trial court correctly determined that the contraband was not required to be suppressed. Under the inevitable discovery rule, when evidence is obtained through

the result of unconstitutional police procedures, the evidence will still be admissible if it would have been discovered through legal means. See Jeffries v. State, 797 So. 2d 573, 577-578 (Fla. 2001). Here, the trial court determined that Officer Brownfield smelled marijuana when he went Appellants' stopped vehicle. Had to Officer Brownfield immediately explained the reason for the stop when he made personal contact with Appellants, rather than first asking Appellants for their identification, he would have still smelled marijuana and thus developed probable cause to detain Appellants.

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